
  1865P 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF STETSON 

METTS CITY DIVISION 

_______________________________________ 

           ) 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,       )                                                                              

           ) CASE NO. 15:18-cr-00777-NB-EE 

v.                                                        )      

                                                                ) 

JASON MENDOZA,         ) 

           ) Date of Filing: September 13, 2018 

  Defendant.        ) Date of Hearing: October 11, 2018 

______________________________________/ 

 

MEMORANDUM IN OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTIONS 

 

 COMES NOW the United States of America, by the U.S. Attorneys for the Southern 

District of Stetson, respectfully requesting the Court to deny Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Count 

Two of the Indictment and Motion to Suppress Evidence. On December 1, 2015 through March 

25, 2018 in the Southern District of Stetson, Jason Mendoza knowingly and intentionally 

distributed more than one kilogram of Heroin. Further, on April 30, 2018, Jason Mendoza 

possessed a "Molotov Cocktail" in furtherance of a crime of violence to wit: Arson, in violation of 

18 U.S.C. § 844(i).” On May 23, 2018, Defendant was indicted for one count of Distribution of a 

Controlled Substance pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1), and one count of Possession of a 

Destructive Device in Furtherance of a Crime of Violence pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(1)(B)(ii). 

Memoranda in Opposition to Defendant’s pretrial motions is attached. 

Respectfully submitted, 
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DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO DISMISS COUNT TWO SHOULD BE DENIED 

Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Count Two for vagueness should be denied because the 

residual clause at issue is neither vague on its face nor vague as applied to Defendant. First, the 

United States Supreme Court has never invalidated 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)’s residual clause, as the 

statute at issue in Johnson v. United States, 135 S. Ct. 2551 (2015), is materially different from § 

924(c). Second, a number of circuits agree that § 924(c) was not affected by the Johnson decision. 

Third, § 924(c)’s residual clause is not unconstitutionally vague as applied to Defendant. Based on 

the foregoing, the Government respectfully requests this Court deny Defendant’s Motion to 

Dismiss Count Two of the Indictment. In support, the United States offers the following: 

I. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 

On April 30, 2018, a Criminal Complaint was filed in the Southern District Court of Stetson 

by the Honorable Judge Engle establishing probable cause to arrest Defendant for the unlawful 

distribution of heroin. (Doc. 3). Agent Shawn Michaels (“Agent Michaels”) left the Metts City 

Federal Courthouse to arrest Defendant at his home. (Id.). When Agent Michaels arrived at 6:42 

p.m., Defendant was not home. (Id.). Agent Michaels notified the Gordon County Sheriff’s Office 

patrol units to be on alert for Defendant or his vehicle, a 2017 Tesla Model X. (Id.). At 2:32 a.m., 

Agent Michaels received a call from Gordon County Deputy Toddrick Kemple (“Deputy 

Kemple”) who informed him that officials located Defendant’s vehicle in a commercial area at 99 

Scully Drive. Defendant was not seen in the area surrounding the vehicle and all nearby businesses 

were closed. (Id.). 

While on his way to meet Deputy Kemple at Defendant’s vehicle, Agent Michaels received 

another call from the deputy informing him that dispatch received a 9-1-1 call at 2:41 a.m. placing 

an individual matching Defendant’s description at 102 Scully Drive, known as the Pie Hard 
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Bakery. (Id. at 1-2). The caller reported that while driving westbound on North Hitchcock Lane 

approaching Scully Drive, he observed the individual launching an unspecified flaming object into 

the bakery. (Id. at 2). Pie Hard Bakery is owned by Trevor Scott’s wife, Paula Ouncerock. (Id. at 

2). 

Agent Michaels arrived at 99 Scully Drive and saw Defendant entering his vehicle. Agent 

Michaels arrested Defendant for the unlawful distribution of heroin. (Id. at 2). 

After the arrest, Deputy Kemple conducted a pat-down search of Defendant producing a 

green BIC lighter from Defendant’s front pants pocket. (Id. at 2). Concerned about the caller’s 

report, Agent Michaels walked to 102 Scully Drive where he observed dark grey smoke emanating 

from a fire inside the bakery. Agent Michaels also noticed a strong odor of alcohol and several 

pieces of broken glass on the sidewalk outside of the bakery. (Id. at 2). Gordon County Fire Rescue 

arrived on scene and extinguished the fire. (Id. at 2). Agent Michaels submitted a Supplemental 

Affidavit of Probable Cause and a grand jury indicted Defendant with two counts, the second being 

Possession of a Destructive Device in Furtherance of a Crime of Violence pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 

924(c)(1)(B)(ii) (2018). (Id. at 3). 

II. ARGUMENT 

A. Johnson v. United States Did Not Invalidate § 924(c)’s Residual Clause. 

 

Section 924(c)(1)(A) criminalizes the use, carry, or possession of a firearm during and in 

relation to any crime of violence. A "crime of violence" is defined as a felony that  

(A) has as an element the use, attempted use, or threatened use of 

physical force against the person or property of another, or  

 

(B) that by its nature, involves a substantial risk that physical force 

against the person or property of another may be used in the course 

of committing the offense. 
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18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(3)(A)(B). (emphasis added). Subsection (A) is considered the elements clause, 

while subsection (B) is the residual clause. The Government moves forward only on the residual 

clause.  

A law is unconstitutionally vague when it fails to give ordinary people fair notice of the 

conduct it punishes, or is so standardless that it invites arbitrary enforcement, thus violating the 

fifth amendment due process guarantee. Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 357-358 (1983). In 

support of his argument, Defendant cites to Johnson v. United States, 135 S.Ct. 2551 (2015), 

wherein the Court invalidated § 924(e)’s residual clause, known as the Armed Career Criminal 

Act (ACCA).  

In Johnson, Defendant was a felon who disclosed to undercover FBI agents that he 

manufactured explosives and planned attacks in Minnesota. Id. at 2556. Defendant showed agents 

several of his firearms and rounds of ammunition. Id. at 2556. Defendant pled guilty to violating 

§ 922(g), which criminalizes (for felons) the shipping, transporting, possession, or reception of 

any firearm or ammunition in interstate or foreign commerce. 18 U.S.C. § 922(g) (2018). The 

Government requested an ACCA enhancement, which provides that any person convicted of 

violating § 922(g) with three previous convictions for a “violent felony” will be sentenced to a 

minimum of fifteen years imprisonment with no possibility of a suspended or probationary 

sentence. Id. at 2556; 18 U.S.C. § 924(e).  

The Government argued that Defendant’s three previous offenses, including unlawful 

possession of a short-barreled shotgun, were violent felonies under § 924(e)’s definition. Id. at 

2554. The District Court agreed and sentenced Defendant to the 15-year prison term under the 

ACCA. Id. at 2556. The Supreme Court granted certiorari to determine whether the offense of 
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unlawful possession of a short-barreled shotgun qualified as a “violent felony” under the ACCA’s 

residual clause, § 924(e)(B). Id. at 2556. 

Section 924(e)(B) defines "violent felony" as a felony that  

(i) has as an element the use, attempted use, or threatened use of 

physical force against the person of another; or  

(ii) is burglary, arson, or extortion, involves use of explosives, or 

otherwise involves conduct that presents a serious potential risk of 

physical injury to another.  

 

(emphasis added). The latter clause of section (ii) is the statute’s residual clause. In deciding 

whether a crime would fit under the residual clause, the Court struggled to picture the kind of 

conduct that would be involved in “the ordinary case,” and to judge whether that notion presented 

a “serious potential risk of physical injury.” Johnson, 135 S. Ct. at 2557, citing James v. United 

States, 550 U.S. 192, 208 (2007). Thus, the Court held the residual clause unconstitutionally vague 

because it left grave uncertainty about (1) how to estimate the risk posed by a crime, and (2) how 

much risk it would take for a crime to qualify. Id. at 2558.  

Johnson did not invalidate § 924(c)’s residual clause; it invalidated § 924(e)’s residual 

clause. These two clauses are clearly distinguishable. First, the text of § 924(c)(3)(B) focuses on 

the risk of “physical force” being used “in the course of” committing the offense, rather than the 

“risk of physical injury” being present, which deems the risk inquiry much narrower than that of 

§ 924(e)(B)(ii). Second, § 924(c)’s residual clause does not include the list of offenses that the 

ACCA’s residual clause contains. Thus, § 924(c) diminishes, rather than creates, uncertainty in the 

types of risks contemplated.  

The language of § 924(c) reveals a narrower risk inquiry than the ACCA. Section 924(c) 

requires the risk "that physical force against the person or property of another may be used in the 

course of committing the offense" while the ACCA requires conduct that “presents a serious 
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potential risk of physical injury to another." § 924(e)(B) (emphasis added). Risk of physical force 

being used is much more definite than the broad “risk of physical injury.” Id.; United States v. 

Taylor, 814 F.3d 340, 376-377 (6th Cir. 2016). Further, § 924(c) requires the risk of physical force 

arise "in the course of committing the offense,” meaning the offender must be the person who uses 

physical force. Id. at 377. Section 924(c) also requires that the felony be one which "by its nature" 

involves the risk that the offender will use physical force. Id. The ACCA lacks all of these 

narrowing components that §924(c) possesses.  

The lack of enumerated offenses in § 924(c) also sets it apart from the ACCA. The 

enumerated offenses present in the ACCA (burglary, arson, or extortion, involves use of 

explosives) combined with the “or otherwise” language highlights the uncertainty of the risks 

contemplated. In Johnson, the Court noted that the list of offenses was “far from clear in respect 

to the degree of risk each poses.” Johnson, 135 S.Ct. at 2558. The dissent expressed concerns that 

holding the ACCA unconstitutional would cast doubt on other statutes that use terms like 

“substantial, grave, and unreasonable risk.” Id. at 2561 (J. Alito, dissenting). However, the 

majority recognized that most laws do not link a phrase like “substantial risk” to an unclear list of 

examples.  

On the other hand, § 924(c)’s residual clause states a crime of violence, “by its nature, 

involves a substantial risk that physical force against the person or property of another may be 

used in the course of committing the offense.” § 924(c)(3)(B). Thus, unlike the ACCA, there is no 

list of crimes present that would create uncertainty and confusion in the types of risks contemplated 

by the statute.  

Before the decision in Johnson, Justice Scalia elaborated on the uncertainty created by the 

enumerated offenses in the ACCA in his dissenting opinion in James v. United States, 550 U.S. 
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192, n.7 (2007): “The phrase ‘shades of red,’ standing alone, does not generate confusion or 

unpredictability; but the phrase ‘fire-engine red, light pink, maroon, navy blue, or colors that 

otherwise involve shades of red’ assuredly does so.” Section 924(c) does not require courts to 

compare the level of risk involved in a defendant's conduct to the ACCA’s “burglary, arson, 

extortion, or the use of explosives,” supporting the finding that § 924(c) is not unconstitutionally 

vague. United States v. Taylor, 814 F.3d 340, 377 (6th Cir. 2016); [18 U.S.C. §924(e)(B)(ii)]. 

B. A Categorical Approach Does Not Render §924(c)’s Residual Clause Vague. 

 

 Defendant argues that application of a categorial approach to the residual clause in §924(c) 

renders it vague. A categorical approach requires courts to look at how the law defines the offense 

and not the specific facts pertaining to how an individual offender might have committed the crime. 

Taylor v. United States, 495 U.S. 575, 600 (1990). However, it was both the ordinary case analysis 

and the level-of-risk requirement that ultimately resulted in the ACCA’s demise. United States v. 

Taylor, 814 F.3d 340, 378 (6th Cir. 2016). The Supreme Court noted that “each of the uncertainties 

in the residual clause may be tolerable alone, but ‘their sum makes a task for us which at best could 

be only guesswork.’” Johnson v. United States, 135 S. Ct. 2551, 2561 (2015) (emphasis added), 

citing United States v. Evans, 333 U.S. 483, 495 (1948). Johnson makes clear that the categorical 

approach, combined with other vague elements, rendered the ACCA unconstitutionally vague. Id. 

at 2557. Thus, application of the categorical approach to § 924(c) does not render it vague. 

C. Other Circuits Uphold § 924(c)’s Residual Clause Post-Johnson. 

The second, sixth, and eighth circuits have held § 924(c) is not unconstitutionally vague in 

light of Johnson. See United States v. Hill, 832 F.3d 135 (2d Cir. 2016), United States v. Taylor, 

814 F.3d 340 (6th Cir. 2016) and United States v. Prickett, 839 F.3d 697 (8th Cir. 2016). Defendant 

argues the Supreme Court’s holding in Sessions v. Dimaya, 138 S. Ct. 1204 (2018), that 18 U.S.C. 
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§16(b)’s residual clause was unconstitutionally vague, renders § 924(c)’s residual clause 

unconstitutionally vague. Yet, the Court in Dimaya made no determination about whether 

§924(c)’s residual clause was unconstitutionally vague in light of its decision.  Although the word 

choice is parallel in both clauses, an important distinction exists.  

In Dimaya, the Immigration and Nationality Act (INA), which rendered aliens convicted 

of aggravated felonies deportable, included a long list of possible meanings for “aggravated 

felonies” under 8 U.S.C. §1101. 138 S. Ct. 1204, 1207 (2018). Section 16(b)’s definition of a crime 

of violence was included within that list. Under § 16(b), courts considered in the abstract whether 

crimes involved a risk of the use of physical force to be deemed a crime of violence. Conversely, 

§924(c) requires courts to consider only situations in which a defendant possessed a firearm or 

destructive device “during” and “in relation to” or “in furtherance of” a crime, and to determine 

whether that crime involves “a substantial risk of physical force.” Thus, § 924(c)’s “crime of 

violence” definition encompasses the possession of a firearm, unlike § 16(b). 

When the law requires that a firearm or destructive device be used in relation to or in 

furtherance of a crime, a substantial risk that physical force may be used becomes much more 

likely. For example, Johnson discusses the crime of witness tampering, which may or may not 

involve a risk of violence. Johnson, 135 S. Ct. at 2558. In some cases, witness tampering can 

simply involve offering to bribe a witness, whereas in others it involves threatening the witness. 

Id at 2558. But witness tampering with the use of a firearm, unavoidably involves a “substantial 

risk of the use of physical force.” Id. Other crimes that underwent vagueness challenges under § 

16(b) would clearly not apply under § 924(c) because the use of a firearm serves to narrow the 

crimes contemplated. For example, driving under the influence (DUI) would rarely fall under § 
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924(c) because people generally do not possess firearms in furtherance of committing a DUI. See 

Leocal v. Ashcroft, 543 U.S. 1, 5 (2004).  

Finally, § 924(c) is not so vague that an ordinary citizen would have trouble understanding 

it. The requirement of a use of a firearm in relation to or in furtherance of the crime renders a much 

clearer analysis of whether a substantial risk of physical force may be used to commit the crime.  

D. § 924(c) is not unconstitutionally vague when applied to Defendant.  

As applied to Defendant’s conduct, §924(c) is not unconstitutionally vague. The Court in 

Johnson did not address whether a party must first show a law is vague as applied to him before 

he makes a facial vagueness challenge. Johnson, 135 S. Ct. at 2560-61. Johnson held that a finding 

of vagueness would not be prevented just because “some conduct clearly falls within the 

provision’s grasp.” Id. at 2561. However, missing from the Court’s holding was the notion that 

any possibility of a vague application requires finding a statute void. The Court found the ACCA 

void for vagueness based on its inability to produce consistent applications through its confusing 

and uncertain language. Id at 2562-63.  

Further, “a [person] who engages in some conduct that is clearly proscribed cannot 

complain of the vagueness of the law as applied to the conduct of others.” United States v. Coss, 

677 F.3d 278, 289 (6th Cir. 2012), quoting Vill. Of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates, 

Inc., 455 U.S. 489, 494-95 (1982).  

Defendant has been charged under §924(c) for the use of a Molotov cocktail in furtherance 

of arson, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 844(i).” A molotov cocktail qualifies as a destructive device 

for the purposes of §924(c)(1)(B)(ii) and as an explosive for the purposes of § 844(i). United States 

v. Gillespie, 452 F.3d 1183, 1185 (10th Cir. 2006). Section 924(c) is not vague as applied to 

Defendant because arson clearly fits the definition of a crime of violence under the residual clause.  
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To commit arson under § 844(i), a person has to “maliciously damage or destroy, or attempt 

to damage or destroy, by means of fire or an explosive, any building, vehicle, or other real or 

personal property used in interstate or foreign commerce or in any activity affecting interstate or 

foreign commerce.” Arson clearly involves a substantial risk that physical force will at least be 

used against the property of another because to commit the crime, a person has to attempt to 

damage or destroy real or personal property. To destroy property, one must use physical force, 

whether that be force in lighting a match, flicking a lighter, or throwing a grenade. Further, because 

§924(c)’s crime of violence encompasses the use of a firearm or destructive device, the use of a 

molotov cocktail in furtherance of arson, makes it more likely that the use of physical force will 

be used. Therefore, Defendant has failed to show that §924(c) is unconstitutionally vague as 

applied to him.  

III. CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing reasons, the Government respectfully requests this Court deny 

Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss Count Two of the Indictment. 
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DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO SUPRESS EVIDENCE SHOULD BE DENIED 

I. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

On February 6, 2018, Defendant, Jason Mendoza, was first flagged as a person of interest 

upon his reentry to the United States at Cape Adams International Airport by the Department of 

Homeland Security’s (DHS) recently introduced Fun and Friendly Skies (FFS) domestic 

surveillance program. (Doc. 2 at 4). FFS utilizes a proprietary algorithm and software program 

that combines potential threats based on travel history, behavior, and other criteria. (Id. at 3). 

Between February 5, 2018 and March 31, 2018, Customs and Border Protection conducted 

further surveillance of the Defendant who reportedly traveled on thirty-four (34) flights in fifty-

five (55) days, fifteen (15) of which were international flights, and nineteen (19) were domestic 

flights. (Id. at 4). International flight destinations included Singapore, Canada, Germany, Russia, 

Dubai, Great Britain, Australia, and Columbia. (Id. at 5-6). Other relevant observances reported 

that the Defendant only ever traveled with a blue duffel bag on all aforementioned flights. (Id. at 

6). Airport security first contacted Special Agent Shawn Michaels (Michaels) of DHS on March 

31, 2018, only fifteen (15) minutes of the Defendant’s detainment. Michaels arrived thirty (30) 

minutes later. (Id. at 2-3).  

To begin, Michaels asked Defendant his occupation to which Defendant responded he was 

an independent food and beverage distributor for restaurants in the US including The Wing Dump. 

(Id. at 7). Defendant further stated The Wing Dump is contemplating expanding overseas to 

European and Asian markets. (Id.). Such an answer failed to account for all of Defendant’s 

destinations. One such unaccounted-for destinations included Columbia, a country notorious for 

drug sourcing. When asked, Defendant stated his employment necessitated his international travel, 

again failing to account for all his international travel. (Id.). 



 16

Michaels then turned his attention to Defendant’s belonging. (Id. at 7). Noting Defendant’s 

personal cell phone already beside him, Michaels retrieved the contents of the blue duffel bag, 

notably a laptop and an additional cell phone Defendant identified as his work phone. (Id. at 7-8). 

Leaving all other items aside and staying within the confines of the subject matter of Defendant’s 

employment, Michaels powered on the phone, received the password from the Defendant only to 

find without any data, including call or message history, internet browsing history, and 

downloaded applications. (Id. at 8). Defendant stated his phone had recently been corrupted only 

days earlier leading Defendant to restore the phone’s factory settings. (Id.). 

Michaels, weighing all gathered information, then seized the work cell phone to send it off 

for a forensic search. (Id. at 8-9). All personal property with exception of the work cell phone was 

returned to the Defendant who was then free to leave. (Id. at 9). 

II. ARGUMENT 

 

A. The Border-Search Exception Precludes Any Requirement of Reasonable Suspicion  

The Fourth Amendment establishes “[t]he right of people to be secure in their persons, 

houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated.” U.S. 

Const. amend. IV. It provides a procedure disallowing random government intrusions into citizens’ 

privacy. But even at its genesis, the Founders provided an exception to the Fourth Amendment 

when at international borders.  

The border exception is rooted in the government’s inherent sovereignty. Courts uphold 

this notion, stating “[t]he Government’s interest in preventing the entry of unwanted persons and 

effects is at its zenith at the international border.” United States v. Flores-Montano, 541 U.S. 149 

(2004). Indeed, “‘searches made at the border, pursuant to the longstanding right of the sovereign 

to protect itself by stopping and examining persons and property crossing into this country, are 
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reasonable simply by virtue of the fact that they occur at the border." Id. at 152-53, quoting United 

States v. Ramsey, 431 U.S. 606, 616 (1977). 

“By reason of [inherent sovereign] authority, it is entitled to require that whoever seeks 

entry must establish the right to enter and to bring into the country whatever he may carry.” Torres 

v. Puerto Rico, 442 U.S. 465 (1979). The expectation of privacy is lower at the border than in the 

interior of the nation. United States v. Montoya De Hernandez, 473 U.S. 531, 539 (1985). The 

primary purpose of border searches is to stop the entry of contraband into the United States. United 

States v. Alfaro-Moncada, 607 F.3d 720 (11th Cir. 2010). Courts have allowed such searches due 

to the “veritable national crisis in law enforcement caused by [the] smuggling of illicit narcotics.” 

Montoya de Hernandez, 471 U.S. at 538. Border searches are permitted to take place at the 

“functional equivalent” of a border, including international airports. Almeida-Sanchez v. United 

States, 413 U.S. 266, 273 (1973). 

 The facts of this case similarly involve a border search at an international airport, yet courts 

are split as of the standard necessitating such a search. Since its ruling, some courts have 

incorrectly applied Riley v. California, 134 S.Ct. 2473 (2014). In Riley, two personal cell phones 

were seized in a search-incident-to-lawful-arrest then sent off for forensic testing. Test data reveal 

criminal evidence for which the Defendant was then arrested and indicted. That case, however, did 

not involve an international border as with the case before this court. Such an analogy ignores that 

decreased expectation of privacy and the increase scrutiny at the border. Whether reasonable 

suspicion is required to conduct such testing at the border depends upon whether the search was 

routine or nonroutine.   
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B. Reasonable Suspicion is Not Required to Conduct a Routine Search of a Cell Phone 

at the Border. 

The only opinion from the United States Supreme Court that has required reasonable 

suspicion for a border search involved the search of a person suspected of smuggling contraband. 

See Montoya de Hernandez, 471 U.S. 531 (1985). This case has stood alone for over 30 years as 

the sole case with such a requirement. In the case, the Defendant arrived in the United States via 

an airport as was detained for at least 16 hours due to suspicion that she was smuggling drugs in 

her alimentary canal and was subsequently detained until she excreted the contraband. Though the 

court ruled that reasonable suspicion was required for such an invasive search even while at the 

border, that standard was met based on a totality of the circumstances. 

Conversely, in United States v. Flores-Montano, 541 U.S. 149 (2004), a border argent 

tapping the gas tank as part of his inspection and finding that it “sounded solid” lead to the removal, 

disassembly, and reassembly of the Defendants’ vehicle’s fuel tank. This was deemed to be 

routine, not requiring any reasonable suspicion due to the search taking place at the border. Such 

facts demonstrate that searches and seizures that may be impermissible and excessive when 

conducted elsewhere become permissible when conducted at the border. Id.  

At bar, when Defendant was detained under the Fun and Friendly Skies (“FFS”) protocol, 

airport officials merely followed routine procedure. FFS had flagged the Defendant as a person of 

interest based on his flight patterns on February 6, 2018. In order to more thoroughly assess 

Defendant’s travel behaviors, Customs and Border Protection (“CBP”) undertook additional 

surveillance of Defendant during two months of traveling, during which time Defendant had 34 

flights in 55 days, both domestic and international. At all times, Defendant traveled alone and 

carried the same blue duffle bag. When Defendant was detained, TSA officials followed protocol 
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and contacted the Department of Homeland Security (“DHS”) to send an agent to interview 

Defendant. (Doc. 2 at 2-3). 

Upon Agent Michaels’ arrival, routine questions were asked as to the frequency of his 

travel, a factor strongly considered under the FFS protocol. When Defendant responded that his 

travels were employment-related, Agent Michaels asked follow-up questions to test the veracity 

of Defendant’s answers. At all times Agent Michaels kept the conversation within the subject of 

Defendant’s given reasons for travel. With suspicious travel patterns, an incomplete explanation 

as to his recent whereabouts, and a work phone that had been completely wiped of all data 

(including call history, message history, internet browsing history, and downloaded applications 

despite is being Defendant’s work phone), Agent Michaels seized the Defendant’s work phone 

and sent it out for forensic testing. All of Defendant’s other belongings were returned to him, and 

he was told he was free to leave. (Doc. 2 at 8-9).  

The facts at bar more resemble those in Flores-Montano, as the search involved an object 

rather than a person and when at the border, the threshold for what is considered routine is 

unquestionably “struck much more favorably” to the United States. United States v. Montoya-

Hernandez, 473 U.S. 531, 540 (1985). This is so, despite whether that include relying simply on a 

sound, as in Flores-Montano, or relying on a combination suspicious travel activity, questionable 

explanations regarding his travels, and a coincidentally empty work phone, all in regards to 

Defendant’s employment in the case at bar. 

Furthermore, searches of suspicious objects and technology at the border are routine and 

methodic enough to have made it past the legislative battlegrounds of Congress, to be codified in 

law. See generally 19 U.S.C. § 4614 (granting the United States Customs Service the authority to 

search and seize personal property and technology at ports of entry in the interest of national 
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security). It is customary and well within the authority of  agents at the border to conduct further 

tests and investigations when confronted with suspicious objects. See generally 19 U.S.C. §§ 

1499(a)(2)(B) & (b)(1)-(3) (granting border agents authority to conduct off-site laboratory testing 

as part of an examination of property at the border). A search taking place at a border imports 

heightened government interests like public safety and seizing contraband before it enters the 

country. Montoya de Hernandez, 473 U.S. at 537. Agent Michaels seized Defendant’s phone 

because his suspicions were rightfully raised by the missing data directly related Defendant’s 

employment and travel. 

The forensic search of Defendant’s cell phone was reasonable when considered in the 

totality of the circumstances. It stayed within the confines of Defendant’s employment and travel, 

which is highly relevant to the purposes of FFS and border security of a sovereign nation. It is 

reasonable to assume work-related data is stored on a work phone. The Defendant’s personal 

electronics were never seized, as they fell outside of the scope of Agent Michael’s questioning.  

Further, this border search dealt solely with property, not persons. Because the search at 

issue dealt merely with the search of Defendant’s electronic device rather than the search of his 

body, reasonable suspicion is not required. Some circuits have found that the “personal indignity 

suffered by the individual searched controls the level of suspicion required to make the search 

reasonable.” United States v. Vega-Barvo, 729 F.2d 1341, 1346 (11th Cir. 1984). No physical 

contact, exposure of any body parts, or use of force is present in the facts at hand.  

For the foregoing reasons, no level of suspicion was necessary to conduct the forensic 

search of Defendant’s cell phone. Yet even if such suspicion were required, Agent Michaels would 

have certainly had the information necessary to support it. 
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C. Reasonable Suspicion is Supported by the Facts 

The Supreme Court suggested in Riley v. California, 134 S.Ct. 2473 (2014), that cell 

phones are fundamentally different “in both a quantitative and a qualitative sense.” Riley, 134 S.Ct. 

at 2478. The Court has also held that nonroutine searches are permitted under the border exception, 

as long as they possess a corresponding level of individualized suspicion. United States v. Montoya 

de Hernandez, 471 U.S. 531 (1985).  

i. Totality of the Circumstances 

Reasonable suspicion is a relatively low standard. “Although a mere ‘hunch’ does not 

create reasonable suspicion, the level of suspicion…is considerably less than proof of wrongdoing 

by a preponderance of the evidence, and obviously less than is necessary for probable cause.” 

Navarette v. California, 572 U.S. 393, 397 (2014). Reasonable suspicion is based on “the totality 

of the circumstances,” which examines the “particularized and objective basis for suspecting the 

particular person stopped of criminal activity.” United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411, 417-18 

(1981). This is the highest standard the court has recognized at border searches and seizures, even 

for the most intrusive and nonroutine.  

 The first instance of reasonable suspicion in the case at hand came in the Defendant’s flight 

records. In the span of 55 days, Defendant traveled on 34 flights, international and domestic. This 

attaches to the answers elicited during the basic questioning of Defendant to more than satisfy the 

reasonable suspicion standard. When asked about his work, Defendant replied that he was an 

independent food and beverage distributor; in Stetson, he filled this role for The Wing Dump, a 

restaurant chain. Defendant further added that The Wing Dump is in the process of expanding 

franchise locations overseas, specifically mentioning European and Asian markets. Defendant 

maintained that this required him to travel abroad to meet with vendors and suppliers, as well as 

to conduct quality control evaluations. (Doc. 2 at 4-7). 
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 The entire exchange between the Defendant and Agent Michaels centralized around 

Defendant’s employment as it related to his travel patterns. Reasonable suspicion exists here when 

an observer combines of the frequency of Defendant’s travel, the inconsistent story regarding the 

independent nature of Defendant’s work, his travel to Columbia (a country notorious for drug 

sourcing), Australia, and Dubai that fall outside of European and Asian as business prospects, and 

the missing data on Defendant’s work cell phone. The Defendant’s responses to Agent Michael’s 

questions only further muddied the waters. This prompted Agent Michaels to seize what Defendant 

identified as his work phone. Rather than seizing Defendant’s personal cell phone or computer, 

Agent Michaels only seized what was necessary and relevant to the alleged reason for Defendant’s 

frequent and global travels. 

ii. Factually, Work Phones are not Given the Protections under Riley 

In the recent case, United States v. Touset, 890 F. 3d 1227 (11th Cir. 2018), border agents 

manually searched Defendant’s two iPhones and his camera, returned them to the defendant, but 

then detained Defendant’s two laptops, two external hard drives, and two tablet devices, and sent 

them off for forensic testing. Defendant was subsequently arrested when forensic testing revealed 

child pornography on four of the six tested personal devices.  

 Another case, United States v. Cotterman, 709 F. 3d 952 (9th Cir. 2013), involved border 

agents seizing two laptops and three digital cameras. Of these personal devices, both laptops and 

one camera were sent off for forensic testing which revealed child pornography on both laptops. 

However, unlike the facts in both Touset and Cotterman in which multiple personal data-

storage devices were seized and searched, the only item at issue in this case is Defendant’s work 

cell phone. Furthermore, unlike the facts in Riley, the iPhone 6 was not the Defendant’s personal 

cell phone. The Defendant himself described the device as his work cell phone. (Doc. 2 at 7). As 
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such, the analogy made in Cotterman likening the forensic search of a cell phone to the search of 

a personal diary is misleading and incorrect. Not all cell phones serve the same purpose. Instead, 

the search of a work phone is more akin to a work log, which hardly has the same expectations of 

privacy as a personal cell phone or personal diary.  

iii. Innocent Possibilities 

Finally, it is important to remember that innocent possibilities do not undermine reasonable 

suspicion. United States v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266 (2002); Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119 (2000). 

In Arvizu, agents stopped the defendant who was traveling with a woman and children in a vehicle 

on an unpaved, rarely traveled road near the border, a route commonly known by agents to be used 

by smugglers. Though susceptible to innocent explanations, the Court denied any requirement to 

dispel any and every possibility for defendant’s circumstances. 

In the present case, while Defendant maintains his travel was for business purposes and 

that the cell phone with the missing data was corrupted, these possibilities are of no consequence 

to the issue of reasonable suspicion. Additionally, the Supreme Court made their ruling in Arvizu 

in light of the United States border, a fact present in both cases, being so close. As such, with a 

plethora of facts rising well past the level of reasonable suspicion, the search, even if found to be 

nonroutine, is constitutional. 

III. CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing reasons, the Government respectfully requests this Court to deny 

Defendant’s Motion to Suppress evidence obtained in the forensic search of the Defendant’s cell 

phone.  
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